
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Fort Pierce Division 

CASE NO.:  9:18-CV-80311-ROSENBERG/REINHART 

DIAMOND RESORTS U.S. COLLECTION 

DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company; and DIAMOND RESORTS 

HAWAII COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT, 

LLC, a Delaware limited company, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

US CONSUMER ATTORNEYS, P.A., a 

Florida professional corporation; HENRY 

PORTNER, ESQ. an individual; ROBERT 

SUSSMAN, an individual; PLUTO 

MARKETING INC., a Nevada corporation; 

1PLANETMEDIA INC, a Nevada corporation; 

NEWTON GROUP TRANSFERS, LLC, a 

Michigan limited liability company; THE 

NEWTON GROUP, ESA LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company; INTERVAL 

BROKER DIRECT, LLC, a Michigan limited 

liability company; NEWTON GROUP EXIT, 

LLC, a Florida limited liability company; and 

DC CAPITAL LAW FIRM, LLP, a Washington 

D.C. limited liability partnership, 

Defendants. 

  

 

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, Diamond Resorts U.S. Collection Development, LLC (“US Collection 

Development”) and Diamond Resorts Hawaii Collection Development, LLC (“Hawaii Collection 

Development”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), sue Defendants, US Consumer Attorneys, P.A. 

(“USCA”); Henry Portner, Esq. (“Portner”); Robert Sussman (“Sussman”); Pluto Marketing Inc. 

(“Pluto”); 1Planetmedia Inc. (“1 Planet”) (USCA, Portner, Sussman, Pluto, and 1 Planet may 

sometimes hereinafter be collectively referred to as the “USCA Defendants”); Newton Group 
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Transfers, LLC (“Newton Group”); The Newton Group, ESA LLC (“Newton ESA”); Interval 

Broker Direct, LLC (“IBD”); Newton Group Exit, LLC (“Newton Exit”) (Newton Group, Newton 

ESA, IBD, and Newton Exit may sometimes hereinafter be collectively referred to as the “Newton 

Defendants”); and DC Capital Law Firm, LLP (“DC Capital”) (the USCA Defendants, the 

Newton Defendants, and DC Capital may sometimes be collectively referred to as the 

“Defendants”), and allege as follows: 

Parties, Subject Matter and Personal Jurisdiction, and Venue 

1. Plaintiff, US Collection Development, is a limited liability company organized and 

existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal place of business located at 

10600 West Charleston Blvd., Las Vegas, Nevada.  US Collection Development is a person or 

entity engaged in commerce within the control of Congress.  The sole member of US Collection 

Development is Diamond Resorts Developer and Sales Holding Company, a Delaware corporation 

with its principal place of business at 10600 West Charleston Blvd., Las Vegas, Nevada.  US 

Collection Development is a resident of either Delaware or Nevada. 

2. Plaintiff, Hawaii Collection Development, is a limited liability company organized 

and existing under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal place of business located at 

10600 West Charleston Blvd., Las Vegas, Nevada.  Hawaii Collection Development is a person 

or entity engaged in commerce within the control of Congress.  The sole member of Hawaii 

Collection Development is Diamond Resorts Developer and Sales Holding Company, a Delaware 

corporation with its principal place of business at 10600 West Charleston Blvd., Las Vegas, 

Nevada.  Hawaii Collection Development is a resident of either Delaware or Nevada. 

3. Defendant, USCA, is a professional corporation organized and existing under the 

laws of the state of Florida with an alleged principal place of business Lake Worth, Palm Beach 
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County, Florida.  However, upon information and belief, USCA’s main office is located at 1300 

North Johnson Avenue, Suite 107, El Cajon, California 92020, which is the same office as co-

Defendants, Pluto and 1 Planet.  USCA is an entity engaged in commerce within the control of 

Congress.     

4. Defendant, Portner, is an individual and an attorney licensed to practice law in 

multiple jurisdictions, including Florida and California.  Portner purports to be the principal and 

sole law partner of USCA.  Portner resides in Lake Worth, Palm Beach County, Florida, but he 

also spends significant time in California.  Portner is a person engaged in commerce within the 

control of Congress.   

5. Defendant, Sussman, who passed away on April 16, 2019, resided in Nevada or 

California at the time he passed away.  Prior to his death, Sussman held himself out as the manager 

of USCA and he directed the operations of USCA, Pluto and 1 Planet.  Sussman was a person 

engaged in commerce within the control of Congress.     

6. Defendant, Pluto, is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the state 

of Nevada with an alleged principal place of business in Las Vegas, Nevada.  However, upon 

information and belief, Pluto’s main office is located at 1300 North Johnson Avenue, Suite 107, 

El Cajon, California 92020 in the same office as co-Defendants, USCA and 1 Planet.  Pluto is an 

entity engaged in commerce within the control of Congress.   

7. Defendant, 1 Planet, is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the 

state of Nevada with an alleged principal place of business in Las Vegas, Nevada.  However, upon 

information and belief, 1 Planet’s main office is located at 1300 North Johnson Avenue, Suite 107, 

El Cajon, California 92020 in the same office as co-Defendants, Pluto and USCA.  1 Planet is an 

entity engaged in commerce within the control of Congress.   
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8. Defendant, Newton Group, is a limited liability company organized and existing 

under the laws of the state of Michigan with an alleged principal address located at 250 Monroe 

Avenue NW, Suite 400 PMB #6026, Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503.  However, upon information 

and belief, Newton Group operates out of facilities located at 1750 E Northrop Boulevard, Suite 

170, Chandler, Arizona 85286.  Newton Group is an entity engaged in commerce within the control 

of Congress.   

9. Defendant, Newton ESA, is a limited liability company organized and existing 

under the laws of the state of Michigan with an alleged principal place of business located at 3148 

Plainfield Avenue NE, Suite 283, Grand Rapids, Michigan 49525.  Newton ESA is an entity 

engaged in commerce within the control of Congress. 

10. Defendant, IBD, is a limited liability company organized and existing under the 

laws of the state of Michigan with a principal place of business located at 250 Monroe Avenue 

NW, Suite 400 PMB #6026, Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503.  IBD is an entity engaged in 

commerce within the control of Congress.  

11. Defendant, Newton Exit, is a limited liability company organized and existing 

under the laws of the state of Florida, which according to the Florida Secretary of State, has a 

principal address located at 218C East New York Avenue, Deland, Florida 32724, but this address 

appears to be fake as it is occupied by CHA, an accounting firm.  Upon information and belief, 

Newton Exit can be found via its manager, UNL Holdings, LLC, which is affiliated with the other 

Newton Defendants and can be found at the same location as Newton ESA:  3148 Plainfield 

Avenue NE, Suite 283, Grand Rapids, Michigan 49525.  Newton Exit is an entity engaged in 

commerce within the control of Congress. 
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12. Defendant, DC Capital, is a limited liability partnership organized and existing 

under the laws of the District of Columbia, with a principal address located at 700 12th Street NW, 

Suite 700, Washington, D.C. 20005.  DC Capital is an entity engaged in commerce within the 

control of Congress. 

13. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Florida pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 as 

many of the Defendants are located in this District or the actions and inactions that serve as the 

basis for the claims stated herein occurred in, or were directed in or from, the Southern District of 

Florida and/or Defendants repeatedly used the mails and wires to solicit consumers in the state of 

Florida and direct false demand letters and other correspondence to Diamond (as defined below) 

and the consuming public in Florida. 

14. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this dispute by virtue of 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 and 1338(a) with respect to the causes of action arising under the Lanham Act.  The Court 

has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims alleged herein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1367, as the state law claims are so related to claims in this civil action within the Court’s original 

jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy and same common core of operative 

facts. 

Diamond Resorts™ 

15. Diamond Resorts International, Inc. d/b/a Diamond Resorts™1 (“DRI,” 

“Diamond” or “Diamond Resorts”), with more than 420 branded and affiliated resorts in the 

United States, Canada, Mexico, the Caribbean, Europe, Asia, Australia, and Africa, is a global 

leader in the hospitality and vacation ownership industry. 

                                                 
1 Plaintiffs also conduct business under the trade name “Diamond Resorts.” 
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16. Diamond Resorts strives to provide innovative and flexible vacation experiences 

for its owners, members, and guests to ensure that they create their dream vacation experiences. 

17. DRI, through its various indirect subsidiaries, owns, operates and manages 

timeshare resorts and, through resort and partner affiliations, provides members with access to 

timeshare resorts, cruises, excursions, and vacations experiences that are unrivaled in the 

hospitality industry. 

18. As part of their different vacation ownership options, Diamond Resorts offers its 

owners and members the ability to reserve and use vacation interests at different resorts by using 

“points” to stay at various resorts within different multi-site timeshare plans, more commonly 

known as “Collections.”  For example, the “US Collection” is a member-friendly, flexible, points-

based program that allows members of the US Collection to stay at a variety of destinations 

primarily throughout the United States, including in Florida.  The “Hawaii Collection” offers 

similar flexibility to its members for resorts primarily located in Hawaii, Nevada and Arizona. 

19. To become members of the US Collection and to have the benefits of being a 

member, including the ability to reserve and enjoy accommodations with the US Collection, 

consumers (the “Diamond Owners”) enter into valid and legally binding contracts wherein they 

purchase and finance memberships from US Collection Development (the “Timeshare 

Contracts”).  The Timeshare Contracts, unless the Diamond Owner pays the purchase price in full 

at the time of purchase, typically contain financing provisions wherein the Diamond Owner makes 

an upfront payment to acquire the desired amount of points and then finances the remaining 

amounts due for the points through US Collection Development.  US Collection Development 

earns a profit from the sale and, as with other lenders, earns revenue from the financed portion of 

the purchase.  The Timeshare Contracts also identify that Diamond Owners are obligated to pay 
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annual assessments, which are also known as maintenance fees.  Commonly, Diamond Owners 

who own points in the US Collection subsequently purchase additional points in the US Collection, 

which leads to additional sales and financing revenues for US Collection Development.  The same 

is true for the Hawaii Collection Development.   

20. Plaintiffs, as the parties pursuing this action, are concerned not only for their own 

revenues realized from sales and financing, and for their reputations, but for the well-being of 

Diamond Owners who have been defrauded by Defendants’ wrongful conduct as alleged herein. 

21. Plaintiffs have instituted this action and are pursuing claims against Defendants to 

redress the Defendants’ illegal actions through monetary damages and declaratory and injunctive 

relief.  Plaintiffs also seek to deter future wrongful conduct against Diamond and Diamond Owners 

by seeking disgorgement of the profits improperly earned by Defendants to date. 

22. All conditions precedent to the bringing and maintenance of this action have been 

performed, were waived, would be futile if attempted, or have otherwise been satisfied or occurred. 

23. Plaintiffs have retained the services of the undersigned lawyers to represent them 

in this matter and have obligated themselves to pay reasonable attorneys’ fees, which fees are 

recoverable against Defendants pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 1117 and other statutes, as set forth in 

greater detail herein. 

Defendants and the Timeshare Exit Industry Generally 

24. Diamond has over 480,000 members, and the overwhelming majority of those 

members are extremely satisfied with their vacations and relationships with Diamond Resorts, 

including Plaintiffs.   

25. However, within the last ten years, a nefarious cottage industry known as 

“timeshare exit” has sprouted.  This industry preys upon unsuspecting timeshare owners through, 

in part, the use of false and misleading advertising designed to encourage timeshare owners to 
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relinquish ownership of their timeshare interests.  Diamond Owners are not immune from the 

improper efforts of these timeshare exit companies and their deceptive practices and strategies, 

including those of Defendants in this action.  In some cases, the advertising itself advises the 

Diamond Owners to breach or default on their obligations under the Timeshare Contracts.  And, 

in other cases, once the false and misleading advertising lures the unsuspecting Diamond Owners 

to connect with the exit company (or its advertising companion), such as Defendants, the Diamond 

Owners are encouraged – if not specifically told – to breach their obligations under the Timeshare 

Contract.  As a result, this scheme causes substantial harm to Plaintiffs’ sales, reputations, and 

future business prospects.   

26. Timeshare exit businesses, which include Defendants, typically demand exorbitant 

up-front payment from consumers, and then do little or nothing on behalf of the consumer, often 

leaving the consumer with damaged or ruined credit arising from nonpayment of their legal 

obligations.  Certainly, Defendants do not have a legal or proprietary method to obtain a positive 

result for the Diamond Owners because, as strangers to the relationship between Diamond and the 

Diamond Owners, they have no lawful ability to obtain a cancellation or termination of the 

purchase and finance obligations owed under the Timeshare Contracts.     

27. To make matters worse, some Diamond Owners who have issues with their 

timeshare product can resolve the issue by contacting Diamond or by utilizing the Diamond 

Transitions® program.  Transitions® is not available to all Diamond Owners, nor is it a guaranteed 

method to allow Diamond Owners to terminate their obligations under the Timeshare Contracts, 

but, other than resale, foreclosure or another separate agreement with Diamond, it is the only legal 

method for a Diamond Owner to terminate his or her relationship with Diamond. 
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28. Defendants, acting both separately and in concert (as further detailed hereinbelow), 

have engaged in various scams to take advantage of Diamond Owners and cause damage to 

Plaintiffs’ sales and reputations.  Each Defendant plays a specific role necessary to effectuate and 

complete the scams.  Together, Defendants purposefully act, using shell companies and websites, 

as well as lawyers and sham law firms (sometimes controlled by nonlawyers) improperly related 

to non-lawyer “marketing” firms, to divert, or to otherwise hide and abscond with, funds from 

Diamond Owners (diverting those funds from payment of lawful obligations to Diamond), and 

interfere with the current and prospective contractual relationships between Diamond Owners and 

Diamond.  A diagram identifying Defendants’ affiliations and interactions is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “A.” 

29. Defendants are not parties to the Timeshare Contracts.  Yet, they falsely advertise 

a “cancellation,” “exit,” or “transfer” service wherein they can “legally” release or “exit” Diamond 

Owners from the obligations of their Timeshare Contracts.  Such advertisements are false because 

Defendants have no such method or ability.  The following is an example advertisement by the 

USCA Defendants from one of their websites: 

 
 

As set forth in greater detail in this Third Amended Complaint, the USCA Defendants do not 

possess a “legal process” of “permanently” terminating a Diamond Owner’s Timeshare Contract, 

and this advertisement is therefore false and misleading. 

30. The following is a representative advertisement utilized by the Newton Defendants 

in a mass mailer sent to timeshare owners, including the Diamond Owners: 

e What is the timeshare rescission service? 

The timeshare tenrnnalion service IS the process of legally cancellirtg your resort membership and elimlllatmg all the annual maintenance 
expenses as well. Thss process enables the timeshare disposal so owners are completely free from their trmeshare resort ownership -
pem,anently. Clients 'Will be assigned a timeshare attorney who will assist in the timeshare tennination process or timeshare rescission of 
agreement is comple1ed 
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A copy of this letter (the “Newton Defendant Letter”) is attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”  

However, there is no such law; this advertisement (and its implication that maintenance fees will 

increase dramatically and without restriction) is completely false and misleading.   

31. The USCA Defendants collectively engage in the advertising attributed to them in 

this Third Amended Complaint.  The Newton Defendants collectively engage in the advertising 

attributed to them in this Third Amended Complaint.  Even if DC Capital does not engage in any 

readily apparent advertising, it knowingly accepts the benefits of the false or misleading 

advertising engaged in by the Newton Defendants and, potentially, other third-parties. 

32. This Third Amended Complaint requests declaratory and injunctive relief for false 

advertising and contributory false advertising in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a)(1) and under the causes of action for a defendant making false and/or misleading 

representations about its own goods or services, intentional interference with contractual relations, 

civil conspiracy, and violations of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act 

(“FDUPTA”). 

The USCA Defendants 

33. USCA purports to be a law firm that “represents” clients that are referred to it by 

marketing companies, such as Pluto and 1 Planet.  However, prior to Sussman’s death, USCA was 

managed and/or controlled by Sussman, a non-lawyer.  USCA shares office space with Pluto and 

1 Planet, which are non-law-firm entities that advertise on behalf of USCA and that refer clients 

to USCA.  Pluto, 1 Planet and USCA engage in an improper fee sharing arrangement, whereby 

m 

Lt u:; Ip. 

be ~ ted 
h n • 
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USCA pays referral fees to the non-lawyer marketing entities and the funds of “clients” are 

improperly commingled.    

34. Pluto, under the direction and control of Sussman, registered and/or used numerous 

domain names, which it has utilized in its various false and misleading advertisements and scheme 

to tortiously interfere with the relationship between Plaintiffs and the Diamond Owners, including:   

a. timesharefighter.com  

b. tsrsonline.com 

c. bestresortrentalandsale.com 

d. dumpyourtimesharenow.com 

e. timesharefighter.com 

f. timeshareresalesource.com 

g. uscalaw.com 

As an example, Pluto uses these various websites to redirect web traffic to the 

“www.usconsumerattorneys.com” (the “USCA Website”), which, as alleged below, contains a 

bevy of false and misleading advertising.      

35. 1 Planet is a marketing company that engages in nationwide false and misleading 

advertising activities including, inter alia, marketing to consumers in the state of Florida.  

Additionally, 1 Planet utilizes its merchant accounts to process payments on behalf of USCA for 

consumers who decide to use USCA’s “services.”  In certain instances, 1 Planet has also paid a 

portion of certain payments made to USCA to marketing or other companies that referred 

consumers to USCA.  Based upon information and belief, USCA is co-mingling client funds with 

1 Planet and is improperly splitting those fees with additional other, non-lawyer entities. 
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36. Sussman and Portner are both individually and personally responsible for the 

actions of the USCA Defendants. 

37. With respect to Portner, his individual control over the other USCA Defendants 

includes the following: 

a. Portner is the ostensible owner and managing partner of USCA; because the USCA 

Defendants’ scheme requires a law firm to operate, and a law firm must legally be 

owned and managed by an attorney admitted to the highest court of at least one state, 

Portner is instrumental in the USCA Defendants’ scheme; 

b. Portner personally made and/or consented to the decision to operate USCA out of the 

same office as, and to intermingle USCA with, 1 Planet; 

c. Portner is personally involved in, and approves, the marketing and advertising 

decisions and actions undertaken by at least some of the USCA Defendants, including, 

without limitation, USCA; and 

d. Portner is personally involved in, and directs, the day-to-day operations of USCA. 

38. With respect to Sussman, prior to his death, his individual control over the other 

USCA Defendants included the following: 

a. Sussman held himself out as the “manager” of USCA, even utilizing the email address 

“uscamanager@aol.com” when recruiting employees to the USCA Defendants; 

b. many of the various websites operated, owned or controlled by the USCA Defendants 

identify that Sussman was the person directing the marketing activities of the various 

USCA Defendants (including, without limitation, 1 Planet); 

c. Sussman held himself out as an expert in the advertising engaged in by the USCA 

Defendants; 
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d. Sussman was (along with Portner) personally making the decisions and directing the 

activities of the USCA Defendants with respect to their false, deceptive, and misleading 

advertising and marketing;  

e. Sussman was personally directing how to accept consumers into the USCA 

Defendants’ scams and how much those consumers needed to be charged; and 

f. Sussman personally directed the use of USCA merchant accounts to process consumer 

payments for consumers that were recruited through non-party third-party entities 

39. Whether directly or indirectly through Pluto or 1 Planet, USCA uses false and 

misleading advertising to lure Diamond Owners into an intricate scheme that solely financially 

benefits the USCA Defendants.  This scheme proximately causes harm to the sales and reputations 

of Plaintiffs and causes adverse financial consequences to the Diamond Owners in the form of (i) 

payments to the USCA Defendants, for which promised services are not rendered, (ii) damaged 

credit reporting, and (iii) foreclosures on their financial history.   

40. Specifically, the USCA Defendants2 utilize different false and misleading 

advertisements and techniques to lure unsuspecting Diamond Owners into the scheme, including: 

a. The USCA Defendants, in violation of the Florida (amongst other) Bar Rules, offer 

guaranteed results to their prospective clients, which include the Diamond Owners.  On 

the USCA Website, USCA advertises a variety of guarantees, including a guarantee 

                                                 
2 Without the benefit of discovery, it is difficult to specifically identify which specific 

advertisements are attributable to the individual USCA Defendants.  However, Plaintiffs are aware 

that the USCA Defendants own, operate or manage numerous websites, as alleged more 

specifically herein, and that the USCA Defendants use search engine optimization (“SEO”) 

strategies that are designed to enhance their brand on the internet and direct Diamond Owners to 

their websites and other online marketing platforms.  Plaintiffs believe that discovery will fully 

develop which individual USCA Defendants own, manage and operate the various websites, which 

are response for the SEO strategies, and which ultimately receive the financial benefit of the 

scheme. 
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that all “paid in full timeshare cancellations are guaranteed to be transferred or in 

process within 12 months,” a 100% satisfaction guarantee, and “100% No More Fees.”  

Moreover, using SEO strategies, the USCA Defendants enhance their brand and offer 

“Timeshare Lawyer Cancellation 100% Guaranteed.”  See Exhibit “C” attached 

hereto.  The USCA Website also contains a video wherein USCA claims a 100% 

success rate.3   

b. Additionally, the USCA Defendants claim that they have a legal method to cancel 

timeshare obligations owed by a timeshare owner.  Indeed, on the USCA Defendant 

Video Advertisement, the USCA Defendants claim that they “can use the legal system 

to get your timeshare obligation CANCELLED directly with your timeshare 

company.”   

c. In the USCA Defendant Video Advertisement, the USCA Defendants wrongfully claim 

that “a big majority of timeshare owners today are now walking away from their 

contracts,” which misleads timeshare owners, including the Diamond Owners, to 

believe that they need to get out of their timeshare interests because so many others are 

also getting out of their timeshare interests.   

                                                 
3 A nearly identical video can be viewed on the website “www.dumpyourtimesharenow.com” 

(“Dump Your Timeshare”), which is affiliated with the USCA Defendants.  Specifically, the video 

can be found at “http://dumpyourtimesharenow.com/timeshare-cancellation-presentation.php”.  

While Dump Your Timeshare attempts to redact all information regarding the businesses and/or 

lawyers affiliated with Dump Your Timeshare, it is apparent that Portner and Sussman’s brother, 

Mitchell Sussman, who is also a timeshare exit lawyer, are affiliated with Dump Your Timeshare.  

Plaintiffs believe that the other USCA Defendants also operate, manage or benefit from the Dump 

Your Timeshare website.  The video found on the USCA Website and on Dump Your Timeshare 

is nearly identical and they will collectively be referred to as the “USCA Defendant Video 

Advertisement.” 
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d. In the USCA Defendant Video Advertisement, the USCA Defendants also mislead 

timeshare owners, including the Diamond Owners, by asserting that new timeshare 

laws make it more difficult to get out of a timeshare interest.   

e. The USCA Defendants also claim that they are selective in the clients that they accept 

as part of the USCA Defendant Video Advertisement.  The USCA Defendants claim 

that if they are not confident about the matter, then they will not accept the money or 

the representation of the timeshare owner, which includes Diamond Owners. 

f. In the USCA Defendant Video Advertisement, the USCA Defendants prey on 

timeshare owners, including the Diamond Owners, by proclaiming that “heirs inherit 

the timeshares and will be responsible for all fees and expenses” and assert, without 

reservation, that children of timeshare owners are forced to take their parents’ timeshare 

interests and all accompanying expenses.   

g. The USCA Defendants also use the USCA Defendant Video Advertisement to mislead 

timeshare owners, including the Diamond Owners, into believing that the USCA 

Defendants have a program that will allow the Diamond Owners to legally eliminate 

all timeshare fees forever.  The advertisement misleads timeshare owners to believe 

that the day they retain the USCA Defendants, the timeshare owners will no longer be 

obligated to pay maintenance fees, assessments of other financial obligations relating 

to their timeshare interests.  An image of that portion of the USCA Defendant Video 

Advertisement (from both websites) is seen below: 
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These advertisements shall be collectively referred to as the “USCA Defendants’ Website 

Advertisements,” and they are specific, but not exhaustive, examples of the false and misleading 

advertising used by the USCA Defendants. 

41. However, the USCA Defendants’ Website Advertisements are false and misleading 

as it relates to the Diamond Owners, for the following reasons: 

a. The USCA Defendants cannot validly guarantee success and do not have a 100% 

success rate because there are many times when the “result” they obtain for a Diamond 

Owner could never be considered a success.  Such situations include when the Diamond 

Owner suffers severe adverse financial credit reporting against them or when a 

foreclosure is permanently on the Diamond Owner’s financial record because the 

Diamond Owner – at the behest or encouragement of the USCA Defendants – defaults 

on his or her obligation owed under the Timeshare Contracts.  Indeed, there are many 

instances where a USCA Defendant is not successful in obtaining a successful result 

for a Diamond Owner.  For example, USCA represented a Diamond Owner in binding 

arbitration, but lost that arbitration badly.  Yet, upon information and belief, the USCA 

Timeshare Cancelation Presentation: 
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Defendants have never returned money paid by a Diamond Owner based on a lack of 

success, so their alleged “money back guaranties” are hollow and meaningless. 

b. There is no legal method for a stranger to the relationship, such as a USCA Defendant, 

to “cancel” the timeshare interest of a Diamond Owner.  While Diamond does offer 

Transitions® as a program to assist some Diamond Owners in legally terminating their 

obligations under the Timeshare Contract, there is no such legal mechanism for a third 

party exit company or law firm to achieve the same result.  

c. The USCA Defendants’ advertisements that a “big majority” of timeshare owners are 

walking away from their timeshare interests is false.  Specific to Diamond, there are 

approximately 480,000 Diamond Owners, and the large majority of them are happy 

members who are not seeking to exit their timeshare. 

d. There are no new timeshare laws that make it difficult for a Diamond Owner to lawfully 

exit their timeshare interest.  Any assertion to the contrary is false and misleading. 

e. The USCA Defendants are not selective in accepting clients or their money.  Rather, 

upon information and belief, the USCA Defendants do not routinely turn down money 

from timeshare owners, including Diamond Owners, nor do they have a process 

whereby they evaluate whether potential clients should be accepted or rejected. 

f. The USCA Defendants’ advertisements that heirs of timeshare owners, including 

Diamond Owners, must inherit the timeshare interests and corresponding expenses are 

fundamentally misleading.  Rather, such grants or transfers are governed by applicable 

inheritance laws, which generally allow heirs to accept or reject inheritances. 

g. The USCA Defendants have no program and no proven method to get timeshare 

owners, including Diamond Owners, out of their timeshares.  Additionally, any 
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insinuation that the USCA Defendants can legally get rid of fees and costs associated 

with timeshare interests is false and misleading because there is no such legal method 

available to the USCA Defendants. 

42. In addition to the USCA Defendants’ Website Advertisements, the USCA 

Defendants have, at varying times, also included direct references to Diamond on their various 

associated websites, including, without limitation, alleged evidence of the ‘success’ of their 

‘process’ in ‘exiting’ consumers from their Diamond timeshare contracts.  USCA has not had such 

“success” as it relates to Diamond or Diamond Owners. 

43. In reality, the USCA Defendants make a variety of false and misleading claims in 

their advertisements that are designed to deceive Diamond Owners, amongst others, into wanting 

to terminate their Timeshare Contracts and into believing that the USCA Defendants are able to 

legally (and without adverse consequences) eliminate the Diamond Owners’ contractual 

obligations to Diamond.   

44. The USCA Defendants use a variety of social media platforms and other advertising 

mediums to promulgate the USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements. 

45. The USCA Defendants increase the web traffic to their websites through extensive 

and targeted SEO strategies.  As an example, the USCA Defendants have purchased dozens of 

Google AdWords® incorporating Diamond’s registered and unregistered intellectual property (the 

“Diamond Marks”).  Those Google AdWords®, including the following: 

a. “cancel diamond resorts membership”; 

b. “diamond resorts scams”; 

c. “diamond resorts scam”; 

d. “cancel diamond resorts timeshare”; 

e. “cancel diamond resorts”; 
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f. “cancel diamond timeshare”; 

g. “diamond resorts class action lawsuit”; 

h. “how to get out of diamond resorts”; 

i. “diamond resorts international problems”; 

j. “diamond resorts international complaints”; and 

k. “how to cancel diamond resorts membership”. 

In addition, the USCA Defendants purchased numerous Google AdWords® that incorporate and 

utilize the Diamond Marks, which Google AdWords® relate to various Diamond branded 

properties without anything more, such as, but not limited to: 

a. “diamond resorts arizona”; 

b. “diamond resorts branson missouri”; 

c. “diamond resorts international lake tahoe”; 

d. “daily mirror diamond resorts”; and 

e. “diamond timeshare”. 

46. The USCA Defendants purchased the Google AdWords® to increase traffic to their 

various websites, which contain the USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements.  

The USCA Defendants purchase an extraordinary amount of Google AdWords®.  By way of 

comparison, there are a global total of 3,963 total Google AdWord® keywords purchased by the 

USCA Defendants and Diamond.  Of these 3,963 keywords, 24 are purchased by both Diamond 

and the USCA Defendants, Diamond purchased 437 unique keywords, and USCA purchased 3,502 

unique keywords.  For the Google AdWords® where Diamond and the USCA Defendants both 

purchased the keywords, the derogatory ads may appear side-by-side with Diamond’s 

advertisements, which is intentional and meant by the USCA Defendants to divert traffic from 

Diamond’s website thereby causing damages to Diamond’s business reputation and sales.  
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Increasing traffic to the USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements is a critical part 

of the USCA Defendants’ improper scheme.      

47. The USCA Defendants also use other, passive websites that are designed solely to 

squelch bad reviews regarding the USCA Defendants or otherwise make it difficult for consumers 

to find negative reviews or “tell alls” of the USCA Defendants and their schemes.  The USCA 

Defendants also utilize metadata, coding, and backlinking to promote themselves.  Recently, there 

were approximately 269 backlinks that are designed to increase the profile of the USCA 

Defendants.  

48. In addition to the use of the various aforementioned websites, online videos, and 

SEO strategies, the USCA Defendants market and solicit timeshare owners through call centers, 

and direct marketing (such as bulk mailers) that enhance their brand, and direct Diamond Owners 

to their false and misleading advertising.   

49. For example, 1 Planet engages in the business of telemarketing solicitations 

directed to timeshare owners, such as the Diamond Owners, with the intent to falsely advertise the 

services of the USCA Defendants and to encourage Diamond Owners to want to cancel their 

timeshare interests with Plaintiff.  An example resume of a former employee of 1 Planet (the “1 

Planet Resume”) is attached hereto as Exhibit “D.”  In the 1 Planet Resume, the creator confirms 

that 1 Planet operates a call center, that the creator was an employee of the call center, that the 

creator offered “solutions for the cancellation of resort contracts,” and the creator met “company 

quota and requirements … and earned reputation for exceeding sales goals.”  See Ex. D, Pgs. 1-2.  

The 1 Planet Resume confirms that 1 Planet’s motive was to develop “highly empathetic 

relationships” with consumers in order to achieve lofty sales goals.  See id.  These sales goals were 
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satisfied when the false and misleading advertising of 1 Planet and the other USCA Defendants 

led timeshare owners, such as the Diamond Owners, to pay fees to the USCA Defendants.     

50. Moreover, 1 Planet, Pluto, and/or USCA engage in direct telephone marketing to 

timeshare owners, including Diamond Owners, which is also known as “cold calling.”  An example 

call script used by the USCA Defendants (the “USCA Call Script”) is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“E.”  The USCA Call Script is false and misleading for the following reasons: 

a. The USCA Call Script identifies that the host had been working with a ‘intake manager’ 

“for many years now” and that this individual was one of the “most respected and 

experienced Intake Managers,” which is false and/or misleading because the script 

contains blank spaces for the name of the alleged intake manager and therefore the 

foregoing was said about any person who happened to be an intake manager; 

b. In the USCA Call Script there are advertisements regarding USCA’s “Guaranteed 

Solution” which, as set forth in this Third Amended Complaint, is false and/or 

misleading because there is no such “guaranteed solution” other than foreclosure; 

c. USCA also advises that “USCA agrees to provide each Client this Service Guarantee 

which states; Client will receive a bona fide offer to terminate their timeshare in 

approximately 12 months or less (from the time the ownership documents are submitted 

to USCA) or Client can receive 100% of their fee back.”  This advertisement is false 

and misleading because the USCA Defendants do not have a method to ensure that the 

result is obtained, and, based upon information and belief, the USCA Defendants do 

not return fees to Diamond Owners or other timeshare owners; 

d. Pursuant to the USCA Call Script, “[t]he reason why we are so successful getting our 

clients out of their contract is very simple, [w]e only work on a qualified basis, meaning 
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we do not work with all timeshares.  We only work with timeshare owners when we 

know we can cancel them out of their contracts,” which is false and/or misleading 

because the USCA Defendants will take any U.S. based timeshare owner and does not 

qualify their clients; and 

e. As with the USCA Defendant Website Advertisements, the USCA Call Script claims 

that the “program will eliminate all timeshare fees forever,” which is false and 

misleading because the USCA Defendants have no legal basis to obtain such a result, 

and if such a result could be obtained, it is only after the timeshare owners’ (such as a 

Diamond Owner) credit is ruined and a foreclosure is on their record. 

51. The USCA Call Script also advises the timeshare owners, including Diamond 

Owners, that if they are “still paying on a mortgage, your attorney will instruct you on when to 

stop making those payments.  Usually, it’s right away but again every case can be a little bit 

different.”  See Ex. E, Pg. 13 (emphasis added).  This type of advertisement is a proximate cause 

of damages to Plaintiffs – holders of the financing contracts – based upon false and misleading 

advertising of the USCA Defendants. 

52. The foregoing false and misleading advertisements shall collectively be referred to 

as the “USCA Defendant False and Misleading Advertisements.”  

53. Unfortunately, the USCA Defendant False and Misleading Advertisements lead the 

Diamond Owners to pay the USCA Defendants significant upfront fees for their “services,” but 

such services, promises and guarantees are never delivered or kept by the USCA Defendants, who 

immediately take the fees for themselves, often without performing any type of service for the 

Diamond Owner. 
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54. Then, to the extent they have not done so already, once the USCA Defendants 

engage the Diamond Owner and take their upfront fees, they encourage or expressly advise the 

Diamond Owner to default on their payment obligations owed to Plaintiffs under the Timeshare 

Contract and disparage Diamond, thereby proximately causing damages to Plaintiffs’ sales and 

reputations. 

The Newton Defendants and DC Capital 

55. The Newton Defendants, along with DC Capital, are a group of timeshare exit 

companies that are involved in an interconnected scheme to lure unsuspecting timeshare owners, 

such as the Diamond Owners, into paying them upfront, exorbitant fees to get the owners out of 

their timeshare based on false and misleading advertisements.  Gordon Newton is a partner at DC 

Capital and is also responsible for the operations of the Newton Defendants.   

56. The Newton Defendants bill themselves as “The #1 Trusted Timeshare Exit 

Company” and “The #1 Trusted Name In Timeshare Exit.”  See http://newtongrouptransfers.com.  

As part of the scheme, the Newton Defendants and DC Capital convince timeshare owners, such 

as the Diamond Owners, that timeshare ownership is undesirable and that they should stop making 

the payments required under the Timeshare Contracts, which causes harm to Plaintiffs’ sale and 

reputation and, separately, the Diamond Owners.  

57. Newton Group has at least three related companies.4  The first, Newton ESA, acts 

a marketing company (similar to 1 Planet and Pluto).  The “ESA” in Newton ESA’s name stands 

                                                 
4 As with the USCA Defendants, it is difficult to decipher, without discovery, the interactions of 

the companies.  For example, Newton Group and Newton ESA are so intertwined that the client 

“welcome letter” utilized by the Newton Defendants is signed on behalf of both Newton Group 

and Newton ESA.  A copy of one such “welcome letter is attached hereto as Exhibit “F.”  

However, to the extent possible, Plaintiffs have separately identified the improper actions of each 

Newton Defendant and DC Capital herein. 
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for “elite sales associates.”  The second, IBD, acts as an unlicensed timeshare broker.  The third, 

Newton Exit, holds powers of attorney from Diamond Owners, which grants the Newton 

Defendants vast authority to “transfer, terminate, cancel or otherwise divest” timeshare owners, 

such as the Diamond Owners of their timeshares.  A copy of the Newton Defendants’ “Power of 

Attorney” form is attached hereto as Exhibit “G.”  In the Power of Attorney, Diamond Owners, 

and any other timeshare owners that sign the Power of Attorney, grant Newton Exit all “necessary” 

powers to terminate the consumers’ timeshare interest, which could include hiring counsel, 

conveying the timeshare interest to a Viking Ship,5 or discontinuing payments required by the 

Timeshare Contracts.  See Ex. G.  Indeed, while the Power of Attorney outlines some of the actions 

that the Newton Defendants may take once they receive the Power of Attorney, it also expressly 

states that it is not intended to limit the powers granted, but is intended “to expand or enlarge upon 

the same.”  See id.  

58. While not purporting to be a law firm like USCA or DC Capital, the Newton 

Defendants refer Diamond Owners to law firms that purport to be able to eliminate the owners’ 

contractual obligations to Diamond but, instead, improperly take referral fees, or otherwise share 

fees among themselves, all while providing no real services to the owners.  The Newton 

Defendants improperly refer clients to both USCA and DC Capital and improperly split fees with 

each of them such that both USCA and DC Capital benefit from the Newton Defendants’ false 

                                                 
5 A “Viking Ship” is a method of transfer used by certain timeshare exit companies whereby they 

transfer the timeshare interest to an assetless shell company that has no ability to pay the 

appurtenant maintenance fees and other financial obligations associated therewith.  The timeshare 

developer is then forced to foreclose on the timeshare interest or allow it to continue as a non-

paying timeshare interest owner.  This practice has been prohibited in various states, including in 

Florida. 

Case 9:18-cv-80311-RLR   Document 272   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/31/2019   Page 24 of 49



 

- 25 - 

 

and/or misleading advertising.  The Newton Defendants each also engage in fee splitting or 

improper commingling of funds amongst each other as well.   

59. Newton ESA utilizes phone agent cold calling, phone agent lead cultivation, voice 

mail marketing, form emails, fax blasting, text messaging, and direct mail techniques directed, at 

least in part, to Diamond Owners to distribute the false and misleading advertisements that serve 

as the origination for the claims alleged herein.  

60. The Newton Defendant Letter is an example advertisement sent by Newton ESA or 

Newton Group on behalf of the Newton Defendants.  See Ex. B.  The Newton Defendant Letter is 

false and misleading because it claims that there are “new Timeshare Laws allowing developers 

to raise maintenance fees with no restriction.”  See Ex. B.  However, this is patently false as there 

are numerous restrictions or prohibitions on any such effort by a timeshare developer, including 

fiduciary obligations by the various boards of directors and management companies that determine 

and approve maintenance fees – as opposed to timeshare developers.  Rather, this type of false and 

misleading advertisement is designed to convince timeshare owners, including Diamond Owners, 

to reconsider their continued ownership of timeshares and to thereafter pay money to the Newton 

Defendants to get out of their timeshare. 

61. The scheme continues in the Newton Defendant Letter as it states that “experts” 

will be in the local area and that these experts can “explain exactly how we get you out of your 

timeshare contract while, in some cases, recouping a portion of your investment.”  See Ex. B.  This 

is false and misleading as the Newton Defendants have no particular expertise and neither they, 

nor DC Capital or USCA have a lawful method to assist timeshare owners, such as Diamond 

Owners, to terminate their Timeshare Contracts.  Instead, this advertisement is designed solely to 
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mislead the consuming public, including Diamond Owners, and induce them to attend a meeting 

hosted by the Newton Defendants. 

62. The Newton Defendants also use letters that claim that the consumer has been “pre-

qualified” to participate in the Newton Defendants’ alleged exit program.  This advertisement is 

false and/or misleading as there is no “pre-qualification,” and anyone willing to pay what the 

Newton Defendants demand can become a customer of the Newton Defendants. 

63. In addition to these letters, the Newton Defendants published a “Consumer’s Guide 

to Timeshare Exit” (the “Newton Defendant Consumer Guide”), which can be found by filling 

out information identified on the Newton Defendants’ websites.  For example, a consumer, such 

as a Diamond Owner could obtain the Newton Defendant Consumer Guide by going to 

“https://newtongrouptransfers.com/”.  A copy of the Newton Defendant Consumer Guide is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “H.”  In the Newton Defendant Consumer Guide, the Newton 

Defendants state that it is “dangerous” to contact the resort or timeshare developer to discuss an 

exit from their timeshare.  However, this statement is false or misleading as it relates to Diamond 

Owners as Diamond offers Transitions® to some Diamond Owners, which can allow for the 

termination of qualifying Diamond Owners’ timeshare interests. 

64. This advertisement is demonstrative of the Newton Defendants’ scheme because 

there have been numerous instances where Diamond Owners working through Transitions® 

advised that they had paid fees and were working with the Newton Defendants.  Thus, while the 

Newton Defendant are aware that Diamond offers a program that assists some Diamond Owners 

with terminating their timeshare interest, the Newton Defendants advertise that it is dangerous to 

contact Diamond to discuss a possible exit from the timeshare.  The only purpose for such an 

advertisement is to obtain financial gains for the Newton Defendants, which causes harm to 
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Plaintiffs’ sale and reputations, and to the Diamond Owners who pay hefty fees to the Newton 

Defendants for services that potentially could have been accomplished by the Diamond Owner 

without outside assistance. 

65. Upon information and belief, the Newton Defendants purchase leads and/or client 

lists from third-party sources to locate prospective victims.  The Newton Defendants then engage 

in mass bulk mailing and telemarketing, which advertisements also include false and misleading 

information that is disseminated to Diamond Owners.   

66. Additionally, the Newton Defendants falsely advertise their “skin in the game 

guarantee” whereby the Newton Defendants state that a consumer will never pay the Newton 

Defendants or the timeshare company any more money because the Newton Defendants will 

become “financially responsible for your timeshare until it is out of your name” and that this is 

important because “[i]n this way, our goals are aligned.  The longer it takes us to complete the 

transfer process, the more it cost us in fees to the resort.  Both company and client want to see an 

expedient end to your timeshare ownership.”  In reality, many consumers, including Diamond 

Owners, have gone into default on their accounts because the Newton Defendants do not assume 

financial responsibility for the timeshare interest and do not make required payments.  In this way, 

the Newton Defendants accomplish a “timeshare exit” through default and foreclosure. 

67. The Newton Defendants, on their websites, also advertise a 100% Money Back 

Guarantee to get timeshare owners, such as Diamond Owners, out of their timeshare and to 

terminate all future financial responsibilities.  As with the USCA Defendants, such a guarantee is 

false and misleading because the Newton Defendants, as third parties to the relationship, have no 

ability to terminate the existing Timeshare Contract between Diamond and Diamond Owners and 
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the Newton Defendants have not returned fees paid to Diamond Owners when they have been 

unsuccessful in meeting the guarantee. 

68. The purpose of the Newton Defendants’ false and/or misleading advertisements is 

to trick the consuming public, including Diamond Owners, in to retaining the Newton Defendants’ 

illusory timeshare exit services. 

69. There are two ways that the Newton Defendants attempt to get Diamond Owners 

out of the Timeshare Contracts.  First, the Newton Defendants sometimes attempt to get Diamond 

Owners out of their timeshare by using fraudulent deed transfers or quit claim deeds (or other 

deeds that have not been countersigned by the timeshare company) to transfer the timeshare 

interests from the consumers to a strawman buyer, who then defaults on payments and suffers a 

mass foreclosure, i.e., the “Viking Ship” scheme.   

70. On other occasions, the Newton Defendants may refer a Diamond Owner to a “law 

firm,” such as USCA or DC Capital.  The Newton Defendants advertise that: 

 

 

71. The “law firms,” such as USCA, DC Capital, and several others, then carry on the 

scheme set forth in this Third Amended Complaint.  These referrals are a direct result of the false 

and/or misleading advertising engaged in by the Newton Defendants.  USCA and DC Capital pay 

If you do need an attorney, Newton Group Transfers wil l h i re you an 
experienced timeshare exit attorney and back your leg.i i representation with 
t he following Newton Group Guarantees: 

Our R~pres.,ntatlon Guarontt!t!!. Newton Group Transfers wlll hire an experienced timeshare exit 
attorney to represent you1 the timesh.Jre owner. Some companies state that they h ave "attorn eys on 
staff" but chose sttomeys would not r@present you. When w e hire an attorney for you, they wlll 

re.p rc!>enLyou ond your lnLcrosLS. You will receive .J loller of reprc:-:.cnwtlon to confirm thot the 
attomey Is In fact representing you. 

Our ... One Fl at Fee·- Guarantee. With a tlmeshar-e exit, the number of hours Involved I$ unknown. 

whic h could lcovc you CKposcd 10 outrngcous lcgol recs Ir billed by the hour. Hov ing one oil 
cncompn.sslng fee assuras you thot your ott:orncy l s allgned with your goo I of on ding your tlmoshoro 
ownership as soon as posslble. Furthermore, this will guard against any additional lega l fees In the 
event of 11tlgatlon with the resort. Keep In mind, you could still be subject to addltlonal settlement 

fees from t he resort. 

Our 1 00(K Money Back Guar•ncee.lf the attorn ey vve hire to rf!present you fails to e ither provide 
an exit so utlon or settlement agreement, Newton Gl'oup Tl"an.sfer's will retul'n ALL of your money. 
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for these false and/or misleading advertising services either through direct payments and/or 

allowing the Newton Defendants to keep a portion (frequently a substantial portion), i.e., an 

improper referral fee, of the fee paid to the Newton Defendants by a Diamond Owner. 

72. When referring a Diamond Owner to a law firm, the Newton Defendants, in form 

documents (and in advertising contained on their websites) state that the attorney is being retained 

at “no cost” to the owner.  This is false and/or misleading because, in reality, retaining the attorney 

is the only thing the Newton Defendants have done for the Diamond Owner.  This referral is one 

of the reasons Newton Exit obtains the “Power of Attorney” from Diamond Owners. 

73. Once referred to the law firm, the law firm furthers and assists in the fraudulent 

scheme by sending standard form letters on behalf of the Diamond Owner to Diamond directing 

that Diamond cease communicating with the Diamond Owner.  Examples of such letters sent by 

DC Capital are attached hereto as Composite Exhibit “I.”  These letters confirm that DC Capital 

has no method or means to assist the Diamond Owner in exiting their Timeshare Contract; instead, 

they summarily state that the Diamond Owner “has exhausted all known avenue of divestiture to 

no avail” and then requests that the company merely retake the timeshare contract.  In due course, 

Diamond notifies DC Capital that the requests to take back the timeshare interests are denied, yet 

DC Capital fails to inform the Diamond Owners of the rejected offer to take back the timeshare 

interest.   

74. The advertisements listed The Newton Defendants and DC Capital Section of the 

Third Amended Complaint will be referred to as the “Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading 

Advertisements.” 
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Defendants Do Not Provide Legitimate Services to the Diamond Owners 

75. None of the Defendants has a “process” or “legal” basis for “cancelling” a 

consumer’s timeshare contract.  Defendants, through USCA, Newton Group, and/or DC Law (and 

potentially other avenues) send form letters to Diamond with little to no follow-up.  Many of these 

letters are nonsensical, reference non-existent or irrelevant laws, and admit that the Diamond 

Owners will default on their payment obligations.  The letters admit that a default will occur 

because Defendants have instructed the Diamond Owners to cease making payments and, in fact, 

have promised the Diamond Owners that once the Diamond Owners retain Defendants the 

Diamond Owner) will never have to make another payment to Plaintiffs again. 

76. The USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements and the Newton 

Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements (collectively the “False and Misleading 

Advertisements”) are not puffery but are an intentional and malicious fraud.  Indeed, the False 

and Misleading Advertisements guarantee success, state that Defendants have a 100% success rate, 

imply that Defendants have a legal process that allows the Diamond Owners to safely exit their 

timeshare, claim that new timeshare laws allow developers to increase maintenance fees without 

restriction and that heirs of the Diamond Owners are required to take the timeshare and the 

appurtenant costs associated therewith – all of which are designed to convince timeshare owners, 

such as the Diamond Owners, to make the decision to terminate their timeshare and pay Defendants 

thousands of dollars for their illusory services.  No rational consumer would pay such sums of 

monies to a third-party when Transitions® is an option or when the Diamond Owner could to 

achieve the same results that Defendants can obtain (cancellation, defaults, and/or foreclosures for 

nonpayment) by ceasing payments.  
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77. The False and Misleading Advertisements cause direct harm to Plaintiffs.  The 

False and Deceptive Advertisements make false and/or deceptively misleading statements about 

both Defendants’ products and services and about timeshare generally, which relates to Diamond 

as alleged herein.  These statements deceive consumers, including Diamond Owners, into retaining 

Defendants’ services, and also damage Plaintiffs.  Defendants’ intention is to improperly interfere 

with Diamond’s contracts with the Diamond Owners.   

78. The causes of action stated below are alleged to prevent further damages to 

Plaintiffs and to enjoin the illegal practices of Defendants. 

COUNT I 

Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(A)(1) 

(against the USCA Defendants) 

79. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

80. This is an action for violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1) against 

the USCA Defendants.  More specifically, this is an action for the USCA Defendants’ False and 

Misleading Advertisements regarding the USCA Defendants’ own products and services. 

81. Plaintiffs are engaged in commerce within the control of Congress because they 

have a cognizable commercial interest in reputation or sales and fall within the zone of interest 

protected by 15 U.S.C. §1125(a).  The USCA Defendants’ actions as alleged herein also constitute 

commerce within the control of Congress. 

82. The USCA Defendants, through the USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading 

Advertisements, willfully, deliberately, and egregiously made false or misleading statements of 

fact in their commercial advertisements, which were intended to, and did, mislead consumers, 

including the Diamond Owners.  The USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements, 

are literally false, either on their face or by necessary implication, or are materially misleading. 
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83. The USCA Defendants used the USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading 

Advertisements and the SEO strategies to directly solicit, amongst others, the Diamond Owners 

and potential customers of Diamond Resorts into their scheme, which financially benefits the 

USCA Defendants and cause damages and harm to Plaintiffs’ sales and reputation by convincing 

Diamond Owners to stop making payments owed under the Timeshare Contracts even though such 

payments are required by legally enforceable contracts.  Indeed, the USCA Call Script specifically 

advertises that consumers, including Diamond Owners, will be instructed on when (not if) to stop 

making payments owed to Plaintiffs. 

84. The USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements either deceived or 

had the capacity to deceive a substantial segment of the consuming public, including the Diamond 

Owners.  Indeed, Diamond is aware that Diamond Owners who were utilizing Transitions® had 

paid the USCA Defendants thousands of dollars even though they could have potentially used the 

program without paying the USCA Defendants a dollar.   

85. The USCA Defendants’ deception is material, in that it is likely to influence the 

consumers’ decisions whether to retain Defendants’ services or to cease making payments to 

Diamond.  The USCA Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements also deter Diamond 

Owners and prospective owners from doing business in the future with Diamond. 

86. In the event that a Diamond Owner is lured into contacting the USCA Defendants, 

they are then encouraged – if not directly advised – to stop making payments owed to Plaintiffs 

thereby causing damages to Plaintiffs’ sales and reputation. 

87. The USCA Defendants’ advertised services affect interstate commerce. 

88. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be injured as a result of the USCA Defendants’ 

false and misleading statements. 
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89. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover and are seeking (i) 

their actual damages sustained as a result of the false and misleading advertising, (ii) the USCA 

Defendants’ profits resulting from their false and misleading advertising to Diamond Owners, and 

(iii) the costs of the action. 

90. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116, Plaintiffs seek an injunction upon such terms as the 

Court may deem reasonable, to prevent further violations by the USCA Defendants of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a). 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter final judgment in their favor 

and against the USCA Defendants, jointly and severally, for: 

• Monetary damages compensating Plaintiffs for harm suffered by Plaintiffs, for 

corrective advertising, and for disgorgement of the USCA Defendants’ profits, together 

with interest thereon; 

• An award of attorneys’ fees and court costs;  

• Entry of injunctive relief against the USCA Defendants, as well as their agents, 

representatives, employees and affiliates, prohibiting the USCA Defendants from 

publishing false and misleading statements in their advertising, including, but not 

necessarily limited to, the false and misleading advertising alleged herein, on the USCA 

Defendants’ websites or in any other electronic or print media or materials; and  

• All such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT II 

Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(A)(1) 

(against the Newton Defendants) 

91. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 
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92. This is an action for violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1), against 

the Newton Defendants.  More specifically, this is an action based on the Newton Defendants’ 

False and Misleading Advertisements regarding the Newton Defendants’ own products and 

services. 

93. Plaintiffs are engaged in commerce within the control of Congress because they 

have a cognizable commercial interest in reputation or sales and fall within the zone of interest 

protected by 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  The Newton Defendants’ actions as alleged herein also 

constitute commerce within the control of Congress. 

94. The Newton Defendants, through the Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading 

Advertisements, willfully, deliberately, and egregiously make false or misleading statements of 

fact in their commercial advertisements, which were intended to, and did, mislead consumers, 

including the Diamond Owners.  The Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements, 

are literally false, either on their face or by necessary implication, or are materially misleading. 

95. The Newton Defendants targeted Diamond Owners by buying leads of timeshare 

owners, including the Diamond Owners, for unsolicited phone calls and direct mailers.  Then, the 

Newton Defendants used the Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements to solicit, 

amongst others, the Diamond Owners into their scheme, which financially benefits the Newton 

Defendants and cause damages and harm to Plaintiffs’ sales and reputation by convincing 

Diamond Owners to stop making payments owed under the Timeshare Contracts even though such 

payments are required by legally enforceable contracts.  Indeed, the Newton Defendants’ False 

and Misleading Advertisements mislead Diamond Owners into believing that the “exit program” 

allows them to ignore their financial obligations owed under the Timeshare Contracts once they 

retain the Newton Defendants, which is false and misleading because those financial obligations 
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remain due, outstanding, and are often unpaid once Diamond Owners engage with the Newton 

Defendants.  This causes damage to Plaintiffs’ sales and reputation. 

96. The Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements either deceived or 

had the capacity to deceive a substantial segment of the consuming public, including the Diamond 

Owners.  Indeed, Diamond is aware that Diamond Owners who were utilizing Transitions® had 

paid the Newton Defendants thousands of dollars even though they could have potentially used 

the program without paying the USCA Defendants a dollar.   

97. The Newton Defendants’ deception is material, in that it is likely to influence the 

consumers’ decisions whether to retain Defendants’ services or to cease making payments to 

Diamond.  The Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements also deter Diamond 

Owners and prospective owners from doing business in the future with Diamond. 

98. Once a Diamond Owner is lured into contacting the Newton Defendants, they are 

then encouraged – if not directly advised – to stop making payments owed to Plaintiffs thereby 

causing damages to Plaintiffs’ sales and reputation. 

99. The Newton Defendants’ advertised services affect interstate commerce. 

100. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be injured as a result of the Newton 

Defendants’ false and misleading statements. 

101. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover and are seeking (i) 

their actual damages sustained as a result of the false and misleading advertising, (ii) the Newton 

Defendants’ profits resulting from their false and misleading advertising to Diamond Owners, and 

(iii) the costs of the action. 
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102. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116, Plaintiffs seek an injunction upon such terms as the 

Court may deem reasonable, to prevent further violations by the Newton Defendants of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a). 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter final judgment in their favor 

and against the Newton Defendants, jointly and severally, for: 

• Monetary damages compensating Plaintiffs for harm suffered by Plaintiffs, for 

corrective advertising, and for disgorgement of the Newton Defendants’ profits, 

together with interest thereon; 

• An award of attorneys’ fees and court costs;  

• Entry of injunctive relief against the Newton Defendants, as well as their agents, 

representatives, employees and affiliates, prohibiting the Newton Defendants from 

publishing false and misleading statements in their advertising, including, but not 

necessarily limited to, the false and misleading advertising alleged herein, on the 

Newton Defendants’ websites or in any other electronic or print media or materials; 

and  

• All such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT III 

Contributory False Advertising in Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(A)(1) 

(against USCA) 

103. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

104. This is an action for a contributory violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a)(1). 
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105. The USCA Defendants (except USCA) willfully, deliberately, and egregiously 

made false or misleading statements of fact in their commercial advertisements and intended to 

mislead consumers.  The statements described above and incorporated herein were literally false, 

either on their face or by necessary implication, as set forth herein. 

106. Plaintiffs have been and continues to be injured as a result of the USCA 

Defendants’ (except USCA) false and misleading statements. 

107. USCA has contributed and continues to contribute to the other USCA Defendants’ 

false advertising by knowingly inducing or causing the conduct, or by materially participating in 

it and/or accepting the benefits of it. 

108. USCA explicitly or implicitly encourages the false advertising because it accepts 

legal representation of the consumers deceived by the false advertising.  Without USCA’s 

willingness to accept those consumers as clients, the USCA Defendants (except USCA) could not 

advertise what they do. 

109. The USCA Defendants’ (except USCA) false advertisements are public, serious, 

and widespread, and USCA has full knowledge of such advertising and condones it. 

110. More than that, USCA financially gains from the false advertisements in the form 

of client referrals and fee splitting with the USCA Defendants (except USCA). 

111. In other words, USCA’s business derives much, if not all, of its revenue from the 

consumers solicited through the USCA Defendants’ (except USCA) false advertising. 

112. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover (i) their actual 

damages sustained as a result of the false advertising by the USCA Defendants (except USCA), 

(ii) USCA’s profits resulting from the USCA Defendants’ (except USCA) false advertising to 

Diamond Owners, and (iii) the costs of the action. 
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113. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116, Plaintiffs seek an injunction upon such terms as the 

Court may deem reasonable, to prevent further contributory violations by USCA of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a). 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter final judgment in their favor 

and against USCA for: 

• Monetary damages compensating Plaintiffs for harm suffered by Plaintiffs, for 

corrective advertising, and for disgorgement of USCA’s profits, together with interest 

thereon; 

• An award of attorneys’ fees and court costs;  

• Entry of injunctive relief against USCA, as well as their agents, representatives, 

employees and affiliates, prohibiting USCA from publishing false and misleading 

statements in their advertising, including, but not necessarily limited to, the false and 

misleading advertising alleged herein, on USCA’s websites or in any other electronic 

or print media or materials; and  

• All such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT IV 

Contributory False Advertising in Violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(A)(1) 

(against the DC Capital & USCA) 

114. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

115. This is an action for a contributory violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a)(1). 

116. The Newton Defendants willfully, deliberately, and egregiously made false or 

misleading statements of fact in their commercial advertisements and intended to mislead 
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consumers.  The statements described above and incorporated herein were literally false, either on 

their face or by necessary implication, as set forth herein. 

117. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be injured as a result of the Newton 

Defendants’ false and misleading statements. 

118. DC Capital and USCA have contributed and continue to contribute to the Newton 

Defendants’ false advertising by knowingly inducing or causing the conduct, or by materially 

participating in it and/or accepting the benefits of it. 

119. DC Capital and USCA explicitly or implicitly encourage the false advertising 

because they accept legal representation of the consumers deceived by the false advertising.  

Without DC Capital and USCA’s willingness to accept those consumers as clients, the Newton 

Defendants could not advertise what they do. 

120. The Newton Defendants’ false advertisements are public, serious, and widespread, 

and DC Capital and USCA have full knowledge of such advertising and condone it. 

121. More than that, DC Capital and USCA financially gain from the false 

advertisements in the form of client referrals and fee splitting with the Newton Defendants. 

122. DC Capital and USCA’s businesses derive much, if not all, of their revenue from 

the consumers solicited through the Newton Defendants’ false advertising. 

123. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover (i) their actual 

damages sustained as a result of the false advertising by the Newton Defendants, (ii) DC Capital 

and USCA’s profits resulting from the Newton Defendants’ false advertising to Diamond Owners, 

and (iii) the costs of the action. 
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124. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116, Plaintiffs seek an injunction upon such terms as the 

Court may deem reasonable, to prevent further contributory violations by USCA of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a). 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter final judgment in their favor 

and against USCA and DC Capital, jointly and severally, for: 

• Monetary damages compensating Plaintiffs for harm suffered by Plaintiffs, for 

corrective advertising, and for disgorgement of USCA and DC Capital’s profits, 

together with interest thereon; 

• An award of attorneys’ fees and court costs;  

• Entry of injunctive relief against USCA and DC Capital, as well as their agents, 

representatives, employees and affiliates, prohibiting USCA and DC Capital from 

publishing false and misleading statements in their advertising, including, but not 

necessarily limited to, the false and misleading advertising alleged herein, on USCA 

and DC Capital’s websites or in any other electronic or print media or materials; and  

• All such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT V 

Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations 

(against the USCA Defendants) 

125. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

126. This is a cause of action for tortious interference with existing contracts. 

127. Plaintiffs have valid and legally enforceable Timeshare Contracts with the 

Diamond Owners relating to the Diamond Owners’ timeshare interests and the payment 

obligations owed thereunder. 

Case 9:18-cv-80311-RLR   Document 272   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/31/2019   Page 40 of 49



 

- 41 - 

 

128. The USCA Defendants have actual, constructive, and/or specific knowledge of the 

contractual relationships between Plaintiffs and the Diamond Owners.  The very fact that Plaintiffs 

have a contractual relationship with the Diamond Owners is the basis upon which the USCA 

Defendants sought to establish a relationship with the Diamond Owners.  Indeed, if it were not for 

the existence of the contractual relationships between Diamond and the Diamond Owners, the 

USCA Defendants would have no reason to exist. 

129. The USCA Defendants: 1) solicit the Diamond Owners through USCA Defendants’ 

False and Misleading Advertisements; 2) fraudulently induce the Diamond Owners to pay large 

upfront fees to the USCA Defendants instead of making their legally due and owing payments to 

the Plaintiffs (while providing little to no actual services of behalf of the Diamond Owners); and 

3) encourage or direct the Diamond Owners to stop making payments due to Plaintiffs under the 

Timeshare Contracts.  These actions constitute an improper and unjustifiable interference with the 

contractual relationship between Plaintiffs and the Diamond Owners.  

130. The USCA Defendants’ actions were done with an improper motive and not made 

in good faith, but rather were made with the knowledge and predominant purpose to injure 

Plaintiffs or with reckless disregard for the attendant consequences naturally, directly, and 

proximately resulting from the USCA Defendants’ actions and without reasonable grounds for the 

USCA Defendants to believe that their actions were justified and proper. 

131. As a direct and proximate result of the USCA Defendants’ intentional misconduct, 

Diamond Owners have terminated, defaulted, or have baselessly sought to terminate, their 

contractual relationships with Plaintiffs, which causes damage to Plaintiffs.  Moreover, these 

terminations, and attempted terminations, also interfere with Plaintiffs’ ability to enter into 

subsequent transactions with those same Diamond Owners. 
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132. The USCA Defendants did not and do not have any justification or privilege in 

procuring the breach of such contractual relationships, as the USCA Defendants are strangers to 

the contractual relationships between Diamond and the Diamond Owners, and their interference 

with Plaintiffs’ business is willful and malicious. 

133. Plaintiffs are entitled to damages against all USCA Defendants jointly and 

severally. 

134. The USCA Defendants’ ongoing conduct has caused and, if not permanently 

enjoined, will continue to cause irreparable harm to Plaintiffs in the disruption of customer and 

other contractual relations; therefore, Plaintiffs do not have an adequate remedy at law. 

135. The USCA Defendants’ conduct is intentional and willful and entitles Plaintiffs to 

an award of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter final judgment in their favor 

and against the USCA Defendants, jointly and severally, for actual damages, together with interest 

thereon, punitive damages, an award of court costs, entry of injunctive relief, and for such other 

and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.  Plaintiffs demand a permanent injunction be 

entered against the USCA Defendants and their agents, representatives, employees, and affiliates, 

prohibiting the USCA Defendants from contacting Diamond Owners and/or otherwise interfering 

with Plaintiffs’ contractual relationships with such Diamond Owners. 

COUNT VI 

Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations 

(against the Newton Defendants and DC Law) 

136. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein.. 

137. This is a cause of action for tortious interference with existing contracts. 
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138. Plaintiffs have valid and legally enforceable Timeshare Contracts with the 

Diamond Owners relating to the Diamond Owners’ timeshare interests and the payment 

obligations owed thereunder. 

139. The Newton Defendants and DC Capital have actual, constructive, and/or specific 

knowledge of the contractual relationships between Plaintiffs and the Diamond Owners.  The very 

fact that Plaintiffs have a contractual relationship with the Diamond Owners is the basis upon 

which the Newton Defendants and DC Capital sought to establish a relationship with the Diamond 

Owners.  Indeed, if it were not for the existence of the contractual relationships between Diamond 

and the Diamond Owners, the Newton Defendants and DC Capital would have no reason to exist. 

140. The Newton Defendants and DC Capital: 1) solicit the Diamond Owners through 

Newton Defendants’ False and Misleading Advertisements, 2) fraudulently induce the Diamond 

Owners to pay large upfront fees to the Newton Defendants and/or DC Capital instead of making 

their legally due and owing payments to the Plaintiffs (while providing little to no actual services 

of behalf of the Diamond Owners), and 3) encourage or direct the Diamond Owners to stop making 

payments due to Plaintiffs under the Timeshare Contracts.  These actions constitute an improper 

and unjustifiable interference with the contractual relationship between Plaintiffs and the Diamond 

Owners.  

141. The Newton Defendants and DC Capital’s actions were done with an improper 

motive and not made in good faith, but rather were made with the knowledge and predominant 

purpose to injure Plaintiffs or with reckless disregard for the attendant consequences naturally, 

directly, and proximately resulting from the Newton Defendants and DC Capital’s actions and 

without reasonable grounds for the Newton Defendants and DC Capital to believe that their actions 

were justified and proper. 
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142. As a direct and proximate result of the Newton Defendants and DC Capital’s 

intentional misconduct, Diamond Owners have terminated, defaulted, or have baselessly sought to 

terminate, their contractual relationships with Plaintiffs, which causes damage to Plaintiffs.  

Moreover, these terminations, and attempted terminations, also interfere with Plaintiffs’ ability to 

enter into subsequent transactions with those same Diamond Owners. 

143. The Newton Defendants and DC Capital did not and do not have any justification 

or privilege in procuring the breach of such contractual relationships, as the Newton Defendants 

and DC Capital are strangers to the contractual relationships between Plaintiffs and the Diamond 

Owners, and their interference with Plaintiffs’ business is willful and malicious. 

144. Plaintiffs are entitled to damages against all Newton Defendants and DC Capital 

jointly and severally. 

145. The Newton Defendants and DC Capital’s ongoing conduct has caused and, if not 

permanently enjoined, will continue to cause irreparable harm to Plaintiffs in the disruption of 

customer and other contractual relations; therefore, Plaintiffs do not have an adequate remedy at 

law. 

146. The Newton Defendants and DC Capital’s conduct is intentional and willful and 

entitles Plaintiffs to an award of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter final judgment in their favor 

and against the Newton Defendants and DC Capital, jointly and severally, for actual damages, 

together with interest thereon, punitive damages, an award of court costs, entry of injunctive relief, 

and for such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.  Plaintiffs demand a permanent 

injunction be entered against the Newton Defendants and DC Capital and their agents, 

representatives, employees, and affiliates, prohibiting the Newton Defendants and DC Capital 
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from contacting Diamond Owners and/or otherwise interfering with Plaintiffs’ contractual 

relationships with such Diamond Owners. 

COUNT VII 

Civil Conspiracy 

(against all Defendants) 

147. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

148. This is a cause of action for civil conspiracy to interfere with existing and future 

contractual relations and for damages in excess of $75,000.00, exclusive of interest, attorney’s fees 

and costs, and is within this Court’s jurisdiction. 

149. Defendants are parties to a civil conspiracy.  Defendants had a common design, 

each having the intent and knowledge of the others’ intent to accomplish by concerted action 

unlawful purposes and/or lawful purposes by unlawful means. 

150. Defendants conspired to do an unlawful act to cause Plaintiffs harm.  Defendants 

acted in concert with a common design, scheme, or plan to bring about a desired result and/or 

accomplish a preconceived plan for financial gain to the detriment of Plaintiffs through unlawful 

and/or illegal means of interfering with Plaintiffs’ contractual relations with the Diamond Owners 

and collectively causing them to breach their Timeshare Contracts with Plaintiffs. 

151. Each Defendant committed or engaged in an overt act in furtherance of their 

unlawful conspiracy to interfere with Plaintiffs’ contractual relations or to induce Plaintiffs’ 

customers to breach their Timeshare Contracts. 

152. Defendants conspired to interfere with Plaintiffs’ contractual relationships with the 

Diamond Owners and/or were directed by other Defendants to interfere with Plaintiffs’ contractual 

relationships with the Diamond Owners. 
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153. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ civil conspiracy, Diamond Owners 

have unlawfully terminated, or have sought to terminate, their Timeshare Contracts with Plaintiffs. 

154. Defendants did not have any justification or privilege in procuring the breach of 

such Timeshare Contracts.  As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiffs 

suffered damages. 

155. Defendants, acting in concert, have engaged in an unlawful scheme to take 

advantage of timeshare owners and cause Diamond and its business millions of dollars in actual 

damages. 

156. Defendants are jointly and severally liable to Plaintiffs for damages. 

157. Defendants maliciously and purposefully act, using shell companies and numerous 

websites, as well as lawyers who only advertise other fields of legal practice, to hide their 

misconduct, and to divert and abscond with funds from Diamond Owners and interfere with the 

contractual relationships between Diamond Owners and Diamond. 

158. Defendants acted willfully and with malice in taking these actions. 

159. Defendants’ conduct therefore entitles Plaintiffs to an award of punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request the Court enter final judgment in their favor and against 

Defendants, jointly and severally, for actual damages, together with interest thereon, punitive 

damages, an award of court costs, entry of injunctive relief, and for such other and further relief as 

the Court deems appropriate. 

COUNT VIII 

Violations of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act 

(against all Defendants) 

160. Plaintiffs adopt and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if fully set forth 

herein. 
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161. This is a cause of action for damages and permanent injunctive relief under 

Section 501.211, Fla. Stat. 

162. Plaintiffs are legitimate business enterprises under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair 

Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”). 

163. Diamond Owners are consumers for purposes of FDUTPA. 

164. Defendants are engaged in trade or commerce as those terms are defined by 

FDUTPA. 

165. Defendants are engaged in deceptive and unfair practices, including luring 

Diamond Owners into procuring Defendants’ illusory services with false advertising and using 

misrepresentations to convince Diamond Owners to pay substantial fees to “cancel” their contracts 

with Plaintiffs, when, in many instances, a lawful termination is only available to consumers 

directly from Plaintiffs. 

166. Section 501.211(1), Fla. Stat., “permits a claim for injunctive relief by ‘anyone 

aggrieved’ by an unfair or deceptive act, which has occurred, is now occurring, or is likely to occur 

in the future.”  Diamond Vacation Resorts, Inc. v. Timeshare Direct, Inc., 123 So.3d 1149, 1152 

(Fla. 5th DCA 2012). 

167. Under Section 501.211(1), Fla. Stat., “anyone aggrieved” includes a broader class 

of complainants than merely consumers; the scope of the injunctive remedy is also greater than 

the actual damage remedy under § 510.211(2), Fla. Stat. Id.; see also Kinger v. Weekly World 

News, Inc., 747 F. Supp. 1477, 1480 (S.D. Fla. 1990). 

168. Plaintiffs are parties aggrieved by Defendants’ violation of FDUTPA, 

Section 501.204(1), Fla. Stat. 

169. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs have suffered financial loss. 
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170. Plaintiffs’ losses will increase unless Defendants are permanently enjoined from 

continuing their deceptive and unfair business practices. 

171. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their attorney’s fees and costs from Defendants 

under Sections 501.2105 and 501.211, Fla. Stat. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court enter injunctive relief against all 

Defendants, award Plaintiffs their costs, including their reasonable attorney’s fees, and for such 

other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

 

Dated: July 31, 2019. 

s/Brandon T. Crossland 

Brandon T. Crossland 

Florida Bar No. 0021542 

Julie Singer Brady 

Florida Bar No. 0389315 

Catherine E. Woltering 

Admitted Pro Hac Vice 

BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP 

2300 SunTrust Center 

200 South Orange Avenue 

Post Office Box 112 

Orlando, Florida 32801 

Telephone:  407-649-4000 

Telecopier:  407-841-0168 

Email:  bcrossland@bakerlaw.com 

             jsingerbrady@bakerlaw.com 

             cwoltering@bakerlaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on July 31, 2019, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 

Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system, which will send a Notice of Electronic Filing to 

all counsel of record. 

 

s/Brandon T. Crossland 

Brandon T. Crossland 
4829-0823-9516.1 
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